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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT 
 
While conditions remained subdued in the Central Queensland resource region for much 
of calendar 2016, we are pleased to report that Village National made good progressing 
in repositioning for the future.  
 
Key achievements for the year included: 
 

 A return to profitability, with reported Profit from Continuing Operations of 
$796,130 compared to the prior year loss of $3,341,407; 

 An improvement of $2 million in the carrying value of Coal Country Village 
representing a stronger outlook; 

 An impairment of $400,000 against the Emerald Tourist Park; 

 A rebuilding of the occupancy levels at Coal Country Village following the loss of 
the Eagle Downs contract in late 2015. This included Anglo American emerging as 
a significant customer; 

 Successfully re-signing Rio Tinto as our cornerstone client at our Pritchard Road 
Country Resort; 

 Renegotiating significant reductions in operating lease costs relating to Coal 
Country rooms and the kitchen facilities; 

 

Financial Results 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2016, Village National reported a Profit from 
Continuing Operations of $0.79 million. This compares to the loss of -$3.34 million in the 
prior year. 
 
The result includes a number of non-cash items. The carrying value of Coal Country 
Village (Moranbah) was written up in value by $2.0 million with this more than offsetting 
the $0.4 million impairment against the Emerald Tourist Park. 
 
Depreciation amortisation expense for the year was $0.8 million, which exceeded group 
capital expenditure of $0.2 million. 
 
Net bank debt at year end remains unchanged at $7.7 million as at December 2016. It is 
our intention to reduce debt during the 2017 year. 
 

Issued Capital 
 

Village National has 281,864,631 shares on issue as at 31 December 2016, which is 
unchanged from 31 December 2015. 
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Our Assets 

Village National is an established provider of accommodation and associated services in 
Central Queensland. We own and operate three separate facilities within this region: 
 

• The Pritchard Road Country Resort (Emerald) – a fully established 140 room, 
resort style facility characterised by high quality cabin accommodation, full 
catering services and with landscaped grounds, pool, and gymnasium.  

 
• Coal Country Village (Moranbah) – a well located property with a mix of room 

types and landscaped grounds. The facility has over 230 rooms.  
 

• The Emerald Tourist Park (Emerald) – Emerald Tourist Park has been significantly 
improved during 2016, with renewed focus on the tourist sector and offering 67 
powered sites, 11 cabins and a self-contained recreational vehicle area. 
 

 

Overview of operations 
Coal Country Village occupancy levels lifted from an average 54 rooms per night for the 
first half of the year to an average of 93 rooms per night in the second half of the year. 
This reflected strong site management where the mix of good rooms, great food and 
friendly service saw us increase our market share.   
 
Pritchard Road Country Resort has performed soundly in 2016, albeit in a difficult 
market environment. It successfully retained its core client during 2016 and has also won 
work with the infrastructure sector, enabling it to broaden its client base. 
 
Emerald Tourist Park has undergone a total transformation over 2016, with a change of 
name (previously Nogoa Caravan Park) signalling the greater focus on the tourist market. 
Operating losses were significantly reduced and the Park is well placed to capitalise on 
the 2017 tourist season. 
 
Village National was successful in securing the management rights to a small council 
owned caravan park in Bundaberg, Queensland, with the objective being to build a 
portfolio of council owned parks that deliver steady cash flow and provide diversification 
from the resources sector. The group has been unsuccessful in a number of further 
tenders and is now considering whether this strategy can deliver a meaningful earnings 
contribution.   
 

Outlook 
 
There has been a noticeable upturn in activity levels in Moranbah, which seems to be 
driven by a desire by the major metallurgical coal miners to lift production levels. This 
has seen an across the board increase in demand for workforce accommodation which 
has benefited Coal Country Village.  
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Emerald has been more subdued, although there are early signs that activity levels are 
beginning to lift. This is being aided by a number of infrastructure projects in the region, 
whilst the “grey nomad” tourist sector continues to grow, with Emerald Tourist Park now 
ideally placed to capitalise during the May-September period. 
 
Village National’s focus is to continue to build occupancy across its sites and look for 
logical expansion opportunities. Costs are being tightly managed and we continue to 
invest in our properties by improving facilities. 
 
Village National is fortunate to have attracted and retained a great team of people that 
work passionately and tirelessly to improve the business during what has been a 
challenging year. The board would like to thank all our employees for their efforts during 
2016. 
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DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

The directors present their report together with the financial report of the group, being the company and its 
controlled entities, for the year ended 31 December 2016 and auditor's report thereon. This financial report 
has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 
 
Directors names 

The names of the directors in office at any time during or since the end of the year are: 

David J Franklyn Appointed 28 May 2013. 

Noel J Griffin Appointed 21 January 2014. 

Graeme M Yukich Appointed 23 November 2015. 

Richard J Nelson Appointed 23 November 2015. 

 
The directors have been in office since the start of the year to the date of this report unless otherwise 
stated. 
 
Results 

The profit of the group for the year after providing for income tax amounted to $796,130 (2015: $3,341,407 
loss). 
 
Review of operations 

The group continued to engage in its principal activity, the results of which are disclosed in the attached 
financial statements. Information on the operations and financial position of the Group and its business 
strategies and prospects is set out in the Chairperson’s Report on page 3 of this annual report.  
 
Significant changes in state of affairs 

There were no significant changes in the group's state of affairs that occurred during the financial year, 
other than those referred to elsewhere in this report. 
 
Principal activities 

The principal activity of the group during the year was providing accommodation solutions to Australia's 
mining regions. 

No significant change in the nature of these activities occurred during the year. 
 
After balance date events 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of 
the group in future financial years. 
 
Likely developments 

The group expects to maintain the present status and level of operations. 
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Environmental regulation 

The group's operations are subject to environmental regulations under a law of the Commonwealth or of a 
State or Territory. Details of the group's performance in relation to such environmental regulation are as 
follows: 

 
No incidents have been recorded and the Directors are not aware of any environmental issues which have 
had, or are likely to have, a material impact on the Group’s business. 
 
Dividends paid, recommended and declared 

No dividends were paid or declared since the start of the year. No recommendation for payment of 
dividends has been made. 
 
Information on directors 
 

David J Franklyn  Managing Director  

Qualifications  B. Econ   

Experience  David is an experienced corporate executive with expertise in the financial 
analysis of companies, funds management, corporate finance, business 
management and investor relations. Previous roles include being Head of 
Research for a national stockbroker; Managing Director of a boutique 
funds management business, General Manager Corporate 
Communications for an ASX 200 company and Executive Director of a 
builder and operator of modular accommodation.  

Special responsibilities  Company Secretary. Appointed 10 October 2015.  

Interest in shares and options  Holds 2,576,068 ordinary shares directly.  

  

Noel J Griffin  Non-Executive Director  

Qualifications  MBA  

Experience  Noel has extensive experience in management, operation and ownership 
of transport and agri businesses. From 1982 to 1995, Noel was Managing 
Director of Refrigerated Roadways Pty Ltd which at one stage was the 
largest refrigerated carrier in Australia. TNT acquired the company in 1995 
and Noel served for two years on the executive council of TNT. 
In addition to his interests in the transport industry, Noel was Managing 
Director and a shareholder of Table Grape Growers Pty Ltd from 1997 to 
2003. Noel was a Non-Executive Director of ASX listed Centrepoint Alliance 
Ltd from 2005 to 2015 and a founding director of Gan Tumur Industries 
P/L , the Mongolian mining services company established in 2015 to take 
advantage of the Oyu Toigoi mine . 

He is also a director of a number of private companies .  

Special responsibilities  None  

Interest in shares and options  Holds 2,637,500 ordinary shares directly. Holds no share options.  
 
 

Graeme M Yukich  Non-Executive Director  

Qualifications  B.Com, ICAA, Dip. Financial Planning  
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Experience  Graeme Yukich is the Founder of Entrust Private Wealth Management a 
leading Western Australian based private wealth management business.  
Mr. Yukich has been advising clients on their financial needs for over 20 
years, with extensive experience in the areas of stock broking, financial 
services, superannuation and taxation planning. Mr Yukich also has 
significant family business interests, incorporating property development, 
vineyards, wine production and coffee roasting.  

Special responsibilities  None  

Interest in shares and options  Holds 8,156,280 ordinary shares directly.  Holds no share options.  

  

Richard J Nelson  Chairman  

Qualifications  FAICD  

Experience  Over a 43 year career in Banking and Finance, Rick has been involved in 
areas of asset management, corporate development, bank and financing 
negotiations and sales team development. Rick began his career in 1972 at 
Australian Guarantee Corporation Ltd, followed by Denmac group of 
companies as General Manager of Finance. In 1982, Rick founded the 
Centrepoint Finance group which began Insurance Premium Funding in 
1984 and merged with listed entity Alliance Finance in 2005 where Rick 
assumed the role of Managing Director of the merged group. In 2007 Rick 
stepped down to take the position of Deputy Chairman and Non-Executive 
Director and was later appointed Chairman of the Company in June 2009. 
After 6 years Chairing Centrepoint Rick retired in November 2015. Rick 
also chairs Gan Tumur Industries P/L which opened a mining services 
company in Mongolia in November 2015. This was created to take 
advantage of the highly anticipated opening of the Oyu Toigoi mine . Rick 
is also a director of a number of private companies and is an active 
supporter of children’s charities   

Special responsibilities  Appointed Chairman of Village National Holdings Limited on 23 November 
2015.
  

Interest in shares and options  Holds 3,290,000 ordinary shares directly. Holds no share options.  
 

 
Meetings of directors 
   

Directors 
 

Directors' meetings 
  

 Number eligible to 
attend 

Number attended  

    

David J Franklyn   16   16  
 

Noel J Griffin   15   16  
 

Graeme M Yukich   16   16  
 

Richard J Nelson   16   16  
 

    

 
Options 

No options over unissued shares or interests in the group were granted during or since the end of the year 
and there were no options outstanding at the end of the year. 
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Indemnification of officers 

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the year, for any 
person who is or has been an officer of the group. 
 
Indemnification of auditors 

No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the year, for any 
person who is or has been an auditor of the group. 
 
Auditor's independence declaration 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit for the financial year is provided with this report. 
 
Proceedings on behalf of the group 

No person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the group or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the group for 
all or any part of those proceedings. 
 
Remuneration report 
 

The remuneration report follows: 

 
(a) Introduction 
The remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for key management personnel (KMP) 
who are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the major activities of the Company and the Group, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether 
executive or otherwise) of Village National Holdings Limited. 
 
For the purposes of this report, the term “executive” includes the executive director and other senior 
executives of the Group: 

 
(i) Non-executive Directors: 
 Noel James Griffin 
  - Appointed 21 January 2014 
 
 Graeme Yukich:  
  - Appointed 23 November 2015 
 
 Richard Nelson:  
  - Appointed 23 November 2015  
 
(ii) Executive Director: 
 David John Franklyn: 
  - Managing Director appointed May 2014 
       
  - Appointed as a Director 28 May 2013 
  - Appointed as Company Secretary 10 October 2015 



VILLAGE NATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
ABN 158 332 284 

 
 

10 
 

  
(b) Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration  
The Group’s executive remuneration strategy is designed to attract, motivate and retain high performing 
individuals and align the interests of executives and shareholders. 
 
The Group’s remuneration structure satisfies the key criteria for good reward governance practices: - 

 Competitiveness and reasonableness; 

 Performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation; 

 Acceptability to shareholders; 

 Individual circumstances; 

 Transparency; and 

 Capital management 
 
The Group currently has in place a three-tiered remuneration approach with the following elements: - 

 Fixed salary component; 

 Variable salary component; and 

 Share based compensation component; 
 
i. Non-Executive Directors: 
Fees and payments reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of the Directors. 
Non-executive director’s fees receive fixed salaries which are reviewed annually by the Board. 
 
ii. Directors’ Fees: 
The current base remuneration was set on 4 July 2012.  
 
Non-executive Director fees are determined within an aggregate Non-executive Directors fee pool, currently 
$300,000.  
 
The following fees, exclusive of superannuation have applied since 4 July 2012: - 
 

 Chairperson    $70,000 per annum 

 Non-Executive Directors  $20,000 to 40,000 per annum 
 
iii. Executive Director Pay: 
The executive remuneration and reward framework consists of three components being base pay and 
benefits (including superannuation), short-term performance incentives, and long-term incentives. The 
combination of these comprises the executive’s total remuneration. 
 
iv. Executive Director salary: 
The Managing Director's salary is structured to include a fixed base salary component as well as a variable 
performance salary component which is contingent on the achievement of clearly defined monthly earnings 
target, plus superannuation. The employment package may be delivered as a combination of cash and 
prescribed non-financial benefits at the executive’s discretion. 
 
Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay and rewards. 
Base pay for executives is reviewed annually to ensure that each executive’s pay is competitive to the 
market. An executive’s pay is also reviewed on promotion. 
 
There are no guaranteed base pay increases included in any executives’ employment agreement. 
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v. Benefits: 
Executives may as part of their remuneration package receive benefits such as car allowances, car parking 
and professional memberships. 
 
vi. Superannuation: 
Superannuation benefits are paid in accordance with executive employment agreements at the rate 
outlined in the Australian superannuation guarantee legislation. 
 
vii. Managing Director Share Based Compensation: 
The Managing Director is entitled to receive share based remuneration in the form of ordinary shares in the 
group based on the achievement of the following performance hurdles: 
 

 2.5% of the issued capital of Village National to be issued if EBITDA of $1m or more is achieved in 
any calendar year between 2017 and 2019. 

 A further 2.5% of issued capital of Village National to be issued if EBITDA of $2m or more is 
achieved in any calendar year between 2017 and 2019. 

 A further 2.5% of issued capital of Village National to be issued if EBITDA of $3m or more is 
achieved in any calendar year between 2017 and 2019.  

The maximum allocation is 7.5% of the issued capital of Village National Holdings Limited. 
 
(c) Details of Remuneration 
 
i. Amounts of Remuneration: 
Details of the remuneration of key management personnel of Village National Holdings Limited are set out 
in the following tables. 
 
The key management personnel of the Group include the Directors of Village National Holdings Limited 
outlined above and the Managing Director who has authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Group: 
  
The following table provides the details of all Directors of the Company and the key management personnel 
of the Group with authority and the nature and amount of the elements of their remuneration for the 
period ended 31 December 2016. As at balance date, a portion of the director’s fees equal to $98,004 
remains unpaid to assist with the cash flows requirements of the business.  
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2016 Short Term Employee Benefits Post-empl

oy-ment 
benefits 

 

Share-based 
payments 

Total 

 Cash salary 
and fees 

Cash 
Bonus 

Other (a) Termina- 
tion 

benefits 

Super Options Rem 
relating to 

options 

 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ % $ 
 
Non-executive Directors: 
N Griffin 25,000 - - - 2,375 - - 27,375 
G Yukich 25,000 - - - 2,375 - - 27,375 
R Nelson 59,167 - - - 5,621 - - 64,788 
Executive Director: 
D Franklyn 198,158 - - - 18,825 - - 216,983 
         
 
Total 

 
307,325 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
29,196 

 
- 

 
- 

 
336,521 

 
2015 Short Term Employee Benefits Post-employ

-ment 
benefits 

 

Share-based payments Total 

 Cash 
salary 

and fees 

Cash 
Bonus 

Other 
(a) 

 

Termina- 
tion 

benefits 

Super Options Rem relating 
to options 

 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ % $ 
 
Non-executive Directors: 
J Hutson (resigned 
23 Nov 2015) 

- - - - - - - - 

Noel Griffin 20,000 - - - 1,900  - 21,900 
Mary-Anne Greaves (resigned 8 
October 2015) 

- - - - - - - - 

Executive Director: 
D Franklyn 199,333 - - - 18,937 - - 218,270 
 
Other Key Management Personnel: 
Ted Savage 
(resigned Oct 2015) 

- - - - - - - - 

 
Total 

 
219,333 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
20,837 

 
- 

 
- 

 
240,170 

 
 
(d) Employment/Service agreements 
On appointment to the Board, all non-executive Directors enter into a service agreement with the Company 
in the form of a letter of appointment. The agreement summarises the Board policies and terms, including 
compensation, relevant to the office of Director. 
Remuneration arrangements for key management personnel are formalised in employment agreements. 
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Details of these contracts are provided below: 
 
Managing Director 
The Managing Director, Mr Franklyn, is engaged under Managing Director Remuneration arrangements for 
the year ending 31 December 2017. 
 
The following table details equity transactions of Key Management Personnel: 
 Position Shares held 

at 31 Dec 15 
Shares 

disposed 
during the 

period 

Shares 
acquired 

during the 
period  

Shares 
acquired 

under debt 
/ equity 

swap 

Other Shares held at 
31 Dec 16 

D Franklyn (b) Director 3,102,757 - 114,983 - (641,672) (c) 2,576,068 
N Griffin (a) Director 2,637,500 - - - - 2,637,500 
G Yukich (b) Director 8,156,280 - - - - 8,156,280 
R Nelson (a) Director 3,290,000 - - - - 3,290,000 
        
(a)  includes shares held by Associates 
(b)  includes shares held by Associates as well as shares held in the capacity as a Director of an Associated entity 
(c)  no longer have a related party interest in these shares 

 
Non-audit Services 
During the period, the Group’s auditor has performed certain other services in addition to their statutory 
duties.  The Board has considered the non-audit services provided during the period by the auditor and in 
accordance with written advice provided by resolution of the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision 
of those non-audit services during the period by the auditor is compatible with, and did not compromise, 
the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 
 

 All non-audit services were subject to the corporate governance procedures adopted by the Group 
and have been reviewed by the board to ensure they do not impact the integrity and objectivity of 
the auditor; and 

 

 The non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor 
independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they did not 
involve reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making 
capacity for the Group, acting as an advocate for the Group or jointly sharing risks and rewards.   

 
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor of the Group, Pitcher Partners, and its related 
practices for non-audit services provided during the period totalling $Nil (2015: $Nil) exclusive of GST, are 
set out in Note 29 to the financial statements. 

Signed on behalf of the board of directors. 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
To the Directors of Village National Holdings Limited. 

 

In relation to the independent audit for the year ended 31 December 2016, to the best of my knowledge and belief 
there have been: 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001; and  

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct. 

 

PITCHER PARTNERS 
 

 
 
NIGEL BATTERS 
Partner 
 
Brisbane, Queensland 

9 June 2017 
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Revenue and other income     

Revenue  5  4,299,582   5,265,493  

Other income  5  99,000   2,801  

    4,398,582   5,268,294  

Less: expenses     

Materials and consumables used    (835,820)   (1,022,582)  

Depreciation and amortisation expense  13  (849,954)   (956,322)  

Employee benefits expense    (1,817,823)   (1,765,205)  

Occupancy expenses    (1,156,802)   (1,726,918)  

Finance costs    (463,241)   (405,888)  

Revaluation of assets  13  1,600,000   (2,100,000)  

Administrative costs    (424,414)   (469,495)  

    (3,948,054)   (8,446,410)  

Profit (loss) before income tax expense    450,528   (3,178,116)  

Income tax (expense) / benefit  8  345,602   (163,291)  

Profit (loss) from continuing operations    796,130   (3,341,407)  

Other comprehensive income for the year    -   -  

Total comprehensive income    796,130   (3,341,407)  

Earnings / (loss) per share:                       
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (cents per share)         33     0.28              (1.21) 

Earnings (loss) per share from continuing operations (cents per share)     33                 0.28                     (1.21) 
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Current assets     

Cash and cash equivalents  9  97,919   83,851  

Receivables  10  392,081   336,592  

Inventories  11  44,059   23,385  

Other assets  12  79,342   117,137  

Total current assets    613,401   560,965  

Non-current assets     

Intangible assets  14  5,276   6,289  

Deferred tax assets  8  1,840,279   1,840,279  

Property, plant and equipment  13  27,180,309   26,021,660  

Other non-current assets  12  37,700   37,700  

Total non-current assets    29,063,564   27,905,928  

Total assets    29,676,965   28,466,893  

Current liabilities     

Payables  15  831,248   543,228  

Borrowings  16  8,110,327   8,178,932  

Provisions  17  166,923   162,798  

Other liabilities  18  34,994   30,660  

Total current liabilities    9,143,492   8,915,618  

Non-current liabilities     

Borrowings  16  417,974   250,000  

Provisions  17  18,094   -  

Total non-current liabilities    436,068   250,000  

Total liabilities    9,579,560   9,165,618  

Net assets    20,097,405   19,301,275  

Equity     

Share capital  19  48,043,181   48,043,181  

Accumulated losses  20  (27,945,776)   (28,741,906)  

Total equity    20,097,405   19,301,275  
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Contributed 

equity Reserves 
Accumulated 

losses Total equity 

 $ $ $ $ 
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Consolidated  
    

Balance as at 1 January 2015  
 

 47,215,606  
 

 1,527,669  
 

 (26,928,168)  
 

 21,815,107  
 

Loss for the year   -   -   (3,341,407)   (3,341,407)  

Total comprehensive income for the year  
 

 -  
 

 -  
 

 (3,341,407)  
 

 (3,341,407)  
 

Transfers within Equity   -   (1,527,669)   1,527,669   -  

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as 
owners:
  

    

Share capital issue   827,575   -   -   827,575  

Total transactions with owners in their 
capacity as 
owners
  
 

 827,575  
 

 -  
 

 -  
 

 827,575  
 

Balance as at 1 January 2016  
 

 48,043,181  
 

 -  
 

 (28,741,906)  
 

 19,301,275  
 

Profit for the year   -   -   796,130   796,130  

Total comprehensive income for the year  
 

 -  
 

 -  
 

 796,130  
 

 796,130  
 

Balance as at 31 December 2016  
 

 48,043,181  
 

 -  
 

 (27,945,776)  
 

 20,097,405  
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Cash flow from operating activities     

Receipts from customers    4,612,431   5,959,607  

Payments to suppliers and employees    (4,293,252)   (5,877,619)  

Interest received    24,628   2,801  

Finance costs    (423,896)   (405,888)  

Income tax (paid) / refunded    345,602   (45,655)  

Net cash provided by / (used in) operating activities  24(b)   265,513   (366,754)  

Cash flow from investing activities     

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    1,015,000   -  

Payment for property, plant and equipment    (1,323,590)   (116,094)  

Payment of intangibles    -   (4,642)  

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities    (308,590)   (120,736)  

Cash flow from financing activities     

Proceeds from share issue    -   427,575  

Proceeds from related party working capital loans    65,000   310,750  

Repayment of borrowings    (7,855)   (182,913)  

Net cash provided by financing activities    57,145   555,412  

Reconciliation of cash     

Cash at beginning of the financial year    83,851   15,929  

Net increase in cash held    14,068   67,922  

Cash at end of financial year  24(a)   97,919   83,851  
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Reporting entity 
 
Village National Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its controlled entities is a Group domiciled in 
Australia. The address of the Company’s registered office and principal place of business is Level 1, 214 Bay 
Street, Brighton, Victoria 3186. 

The consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year 31 December 2016 comprise 
the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”).  
The Group is a for-profit entity and primarily is involved in delivering master-planned accommodation 
solutions to Australia’s mining regions. 

The financial report is for Village National Holdings Limited and its consolidated entities. Village National 
Holdings Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Village National 
Holdings Limited is a for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

Village National Holdings Limited was incorporated on 14 May 2012. 
 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently by Group entities.   
 

(a) Basis of preparation of the financial report 

Statement of Compliance  

The consolidated financial statements of the group also comply with the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 8 June 2017. 
 

(b) Basis of measurement 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis. 
 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Group's functional 
currency, unless otherwise stated.  
 

(d) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate all the assets, liabilities and results of the parent, Village 
National Holdings Limited, and all of the subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities the parent controls. The 
parent controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. A list of the 
subsidiaries is provided in Note 31. 
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The assets, liabilities and results of all subsidiaries are fully consolidated into the financial statements of the 
Group from the date on which control is obtained by the Group. The consolidation of a subsidiary is 
discontinued from the date that control ceases. Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
and losses on transactions between the Group entities are fully eliminated on consolidation. Accounting 
policies of subsidiaries have been changed and adjustments made where necessary to ensure conformity of 
the accounting policies adopted by the Group.   
 

(e) Use of estimates and judgements 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with AASB’s requires management to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

Information about critical judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes: 

 Note 1(t) - Income tax 

 Note 1(n)(i) - Recoverability of Trade and other receivables 

 Note 1(n)(ii) - Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment 

 Note 1(t) - Utilisation of Deferred tax assets 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are particularly relevant in calculating value-in-use for the purposes 
of assessing impairment on property, plant and equipment. 
 

(f) Reverse acquisition accounting 

AASB 3 Business Combinations requires an acquirer to be identified for all business combinations. The 
acquirer is the combining entity that obtains control of the other combining entities or businesses. The 
acquirer for accounting purposes need not be the legal parent entity. In situations where a number of 
existing entities are combined with a new legal parent entity, an existing entity can be the acquirer where 
the relevant factors indicate that it has control.  This is referred to as a reverse acquisition. 

On 31 May 2012, the Company acquired 100% of the issued shares of Village National Pty Ltd and its 
subsidiaries 

The transaction has been accounted for as a reverse acquisition as the control of the Company upon 
completion of the acquisition was with the shareholders of Village National Pty Ltd. This has had the effect 
of accounting and reporting for the transaction as if Village National Pty Ltd acquired the Company and 
ignores the legal form of the transaction. Whilst the consolidated financial statements are issued under the 
name of the legal parent (Village National Holdings Limited), they are a continuation of the accounting 
subsidiary, Village National Pty Ltd.  
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(g) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is based on 
the first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or 
conversion costs and other costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.   
 

(h) Finance income and finance costs 

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial assets), 
dividend income, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, changes in the fair value of 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, gains on the re-measurement to fair value of any 
pre-existing interest in an acquiree, gains on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss and 
reclassifications of amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income. Interest income is 
recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised 
in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive payment is established, which in the case of 
quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.  
 
Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on provisions, dividends 
on preference shares classified as liabilities, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, impairment losses recognised on financial assets (other than trade receivables), and losses on 
hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss and reclassifications of amounts previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income. 
 
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 
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(i) Business combinations 

i) Business combinations 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. Control is the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group 
takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable. 

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus 

 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the 
acquiree; less 

 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed. 
 

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 
 
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Transaction costs other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group 
incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. 
 
Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. 
Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or 
loss. 
 
When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by 
the acquiree’s employees (acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the 
amount of the acquirer’s replacement awards is included in measuring the consideration transferred in the 
business combination. This determination is based on the market-based value of the replacement awards 
compared with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards and the extent to which the replacement 
awards relate to past and/or future service. 
 

ii)          Accounting for acquisitions of non-controlling interests 

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners and therefore no goodwill is recognised as a result of such transactions. The adjustments to 
non-controlling interests arising from transactions that do not involve the loss of control are based on a 
proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary. 
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iii)          Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

iv)          Loss of control 

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any 
non-controlling interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or 
deficit arising on the loss of control is recognised in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the 
previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is lost. 
Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an available-for-sale financial asset 
depending on the level of influence retained. 

v)           Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group 
transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 
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(j) Financial instruments 

i) Non-derivative financial assets  
The Group initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated. All other 
financial assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised 
initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.  
 
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a 
transaction in which substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are 
transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Group is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability.  
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either 
to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
The Group has the following non-derivative financial assets: 
 
Loans and receivables 
 
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three 
months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their 
fair value, and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments. 
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i) Non-derivative financial liabilities 
The Group initially recognises debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that 
they are originated. All other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss) are recognised initially on the trade date at which the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled or expire. 
 
The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. 
Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method. 
 
Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, bank overdrafts and trade and other 
payables 
 
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash 
management are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the 
statement of cash flows. 

ii) Share capital 
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 
 
Convertible notes which bear the same risks and rewards as shareholders are treated as equity 
(shares issued) as opposed to debt funding. 
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i) Compound financial instruments 
Compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise convertible notes that can be 
converted to share capital at the option of the holder, and for which the number of shares to be 
issued is fixed.  
 
The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognised initially at the fair value of 
a similar liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is 
recognised initially at the difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as 
a whole and the fair value of the liability component. Any directly attributable transaction costs are 
allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of a 
compound financial instrument is not remeasured subsequent to initial recognition. 
 
Interest related to the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss.  On conversion, the financial 
liability is reclassified to equity and no gain or loss is recognised. 
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(k) Property, plant and equipment 

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 

Freehold land and buildings 
 
Land and buildings are measured at fair value. At each balance date the carrying amount of each asset is 
reviewed to ensure that it does not differ materially from the asset's fair value at reporting date. Where 
necessary, the asset is revalued to reflect its fair value. Increases in the carrying amounts arising on 
revaluation of land and buildings are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 
under the heading of revaluation surplus. To the extent that the increase reverses a decrease of the same 
asset previously recognised in profit or loss, the increase is recognised in profit or loss. Decreases that offset 
previous increases of the same asset are recognised in other comprehensive income under the heading of 
revaluation surplus; all other decreases are charged to profit and loss. 

Plant and equipment 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of 
self-constructed assets include the following: 

 the cost of materials and direct labour, 

 any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended 
use, 

 When the Group has an obligation to remove the assets or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of 
dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located, and 

 capitalised borrowing costs 

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for 
as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Any gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference 
between the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss. 
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Subsequent costs 
 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated 
with the expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing repairs and maintenance is expensed as 
incurred. 
 
  
Depreciation 
 
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over the 
estimated useful lives of each component. Hire purchased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the 
hire purchase term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will obtain ownership 
by the end of the hire purchase term. Land is not depreciated. 
 
Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and are ready 
for use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready 
for use. 
 
The estimated useful lives for significant items of property, plant and equipment are as follows: 

Class of fixed asset   Useful lives   Depreciation basis  

Motor vehicles   5 years Straight line 

Office equipment   1 - 5 years Straight line 

Furniture, fixtures and fittings  5 - 10 years Straight line 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial period-end and 
adjusted if appropriate. 

 

(l) Intangibles 

Goodwill 

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. For the 
measurement of goodwill at initial recognition, see Note 1 (i)(i). 

Goodwill is not amortised, but is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 
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 Other intangibles assets 

Other intangibles assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost 
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses over their useful life which is deemed to 
be 3-5 years for software. Other intangible assets which are deemed to have an indefinite useful life, such 
as gaming licences, are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment changes. 
 
Subsequent expenditure  
 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated 
goodwill and brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.  
 
Amortisation 
 
Except for goodwill and gaming licenses, intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis in profit or 
loss over their estimated useful lives, from the date that they are available for use. 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial period-end and 
adjusted if appropriate. 
 

(m) Leased assets 

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases. On initial recognition the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the 
lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.  
 
Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in the Group’s statement of financial position. 
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(n) Impairment of assets 

i) Non-derivative financial assets 
 
A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if 
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event(s) had an impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 
 
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinquency by a debtor, 
restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider 
otherwise, indications that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active 
market for a security. In addition, for an investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged 
decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of impairment.  
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
 
The Group considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised cost (loans 
and receivables) at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually significant assets are 
assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively 
assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Assets that are not 
individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together assets with 
similar risk characteristics.  
 
In assessing collective impairment the Group uses historical trends of the probability of default, 
timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to 
whether current economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be 
greater or less than suggested by historical trends.  
 
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and 
reflected in an allowance account against receivables. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be 
recognised. When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the amount of 
impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 
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i) Non-financial assets 
 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax 
assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of 
impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  
Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are tested annually for impairment. An impairment loss 
is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that 
cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates 
cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or 
CGUs. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are 
aggregated so that the level at which impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill 
is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is 
allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

 
(o) Employee benefits 

(i) Short-term employee benefit obligations 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term 
cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this 
amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

(ii) Defined contribution plans 

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. 
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense 
in profit or loss in the periods during which services are rendered by employees. Contributions to a defined 
contribution plan that are due more than 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees 
render the service are discounted to their present value. 
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 (iii) Share-based payments 

The grant date fair value of share-based payment awards granted to employees is recognised as an 
employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees 
unconditionally become entitled to the awards. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect 
the number of awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected 
to be met, such that the amount ultimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards 
that do not meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date.  For 
share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based 
payment is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected 
and actual outcomes.  

(iv) Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committed, without 
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the 
normal retirement date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the 
Group has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the 
number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the 
reporting period, then they are discounted to their present value. 
 

(p) Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost.  
 

(q) Onerous contracts 

A provision for onerous contracts is recognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group 
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations under the contract. The 
provision is measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of terminating the contract and 
the expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before a provision is established, the Group 
recognises any impairment loss on the assets associated with that contract. 
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(r) Revenue 

i)  Goods Sold 
 
Revenue from sale of goods in the course of ordinary activities is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates. Revenue is 
recognised when persuasive evidence exists, that the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return 
of goods can be estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and 
the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. If it is probable that discounts will be granted and the 
amount can be measured reliably, then the discount is recognised as a reduction of revenue as the sales are 
recognised. 

(ii)  Services 
 
Revenue from services  rendered is recognised in profit or loss where it is probable that the economic 
benefits will flow to the Group and the amount to be received and the stage of completion of the contract 
can be reliably measured. 
 
(iii) Commissions 
 
When the Group acts in the capacity of an agent rather than as the principal in a transaction, the revenue 
recognised is the net amount of commission made by the Group. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 
 

(s) Leases 

i) Lease payments 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease 
expense, over the term of the lease.  
 
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense 
and the reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during 
the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. 

ii) Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 
At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains 
a lease. This will be the case if the following two criteria are met: 

 the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets; and 

 the arrangement contains a right to use the asset(s).  
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At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other 
consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the lease and those for other elements on the 
basis of their relative fair values. If the Group concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to 
separate the payments reliably, an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the fair value 
of the underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments are made and an imputed finance 
charge on the liability is recognised using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 

 
(t) Income tax 

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in 
other comprehensive income. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect 
of previous periods. Current tax payable also includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of 
dividends. 
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for: 

 temporary difference on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 
business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss 

 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and associates and jointly controlled 
entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable future 

 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill 
 
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when 
they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  
 
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax the Group takes into account the impact of 
uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its 
accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, 
including interpretations of tax law and prior experience. This assessment relies on estimates and 
assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New information may become 
available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; 
such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 
liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable 
entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or 
their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 
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A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, 
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be 
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 
 
Additional income tax expenses that arise from the distribution of cash dividends are recognised at the 
same time that the liability to pay the related dividend is recognised. The Group does not distribute 
non-cash assets as dividends to its shareholders. 
 
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group. As a 
consequence, all members of the tax-consolidated group are taxed as a single entity. The head entity within 
the tax-consolidated group is Village National Holdings Limited. Each entity within the tax consolidated 
group recognises their own current and deferred tax amounts in respect of transactions, events and 
balances of the entity. The parent entity assumes the current tax liability and any deferred tax assets 
relating to tax losses, arising in each subsidiary. Each subsidiary is required to funds its own share of income 
taxes. 

 
(u) Segment reporting 

Segment results that are reported to the Board include items directly attributable to a segment as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets 
(primarily the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and income tax assets and liabilities. 
 

(v) Going concern 

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis. 
 

(w) Comparatives 

Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified and repositioned for consistency with 
current year disclosures. 
 

(x) Financial instruments 

Classification 

The group classifies its financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets. 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the instruments were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition. 
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Non-derivative financial instruments 

Non-derivative financial instruments consist of investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other 
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables. 

Non-derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value, plus directly attributable 
transaction costs (if any), except for instruments recorded at fair value through profit or loss. After initial 
recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured as described below. 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are measured at fair value at inception and subsequently at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method. 

Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities include trade payables, other creditors and loans from third parties including 
inter-company balances and loans from or other amounts due to director-related entities. 

Non-derivative financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost, comprising original debt less principal 
payments and amortisation. 

Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities unless the group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

Compound financial instruments 

Compound financial instruments issued by the group comprise convertible notes that are able to be 
converted to share capital at the option of the noteholder, and the number of shares to be issued will not 
vary with changes in their fair value. 

The liability component of a compound financial instrument is initially recognised at the fair value of a 
comparable liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is initially 
recognised at the difference between fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the 
fair value of the liability component. All directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability 
and equity component on a proportional basis. 

After initial recognition, the liability compound financial instrument will be measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method. The equity component of a compound financial instrument is not 
remeasured after initial recognition. 

Interest, dividends, losses and gains relating to the financial liability are recognised in profit or loss. 
Distributions to the equity holders are recognised against equity, net of any tax benefit. 
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Impairment of financial assets          
 The carrying amount of financial assets is reviewed annually by directors to 
assess whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. 

Where such objective evidence exists, the group recognises impairment losses. 
 

(y) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and purchased assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Tax Office. In these circumstances the GST is recognised 
as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and payables 
in the consolidated statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows are presented in the consolidated statement of cash flows on a gross basis, except for the GST 
component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows. 
 

NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 

The AASB has issued a number of new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have 
mandatory application dates for future reporting periods, some of which are relevant to the group. The 
group has decided not to early adopt any of these new and amended pronouncements. The group's 
assessment of the new and amended pronouncements that are relevant to the group but applicable in 
future reporting periods is set out below. 
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NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED) 

AASB 9: Financial Instruments (December 2014), AASB 2014-7: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014), AASB 2014-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) - Application of AASB 9 (December 2009) and AASB 9 
(December 2010) (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018). 

These Standards will replace AASB 139: Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The key 
changes that may affect the group on initial application of AASB 9 and associated amending Standards 
include: 

 simplifying the general classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and those 
carried at fair value; 

 permitting entities to irrevocably elect on initial recognition to present gains and losses on an equity 
instrument that is not held for trading in other comprehensive income (OCI); 

 simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives, including removing the requirements to 
separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets carried at amortised cost; 

 requiring an entity that chooses to measure a financial liability at fair value to present the portion of 
the change in its fair value due to changes in the entity's own credit risk in OCI, except when it would 
create an 'accounting mismatch'; 

 introducing a new model for hedge accounting that permits greater flexibility in the ability to hedge 
risk, particularly with respect to non-financial items; and 

 requiring impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost to be based on an expected loss 
approach. 

Although the directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 9 may have an impact on the group's financial 
instruments, including hedging activity, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of 
such impact. 
 
 

AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers, AASB 2014-5: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 15, AASB 2015-8: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Effective Date of AASB 15 and AASB 2016-3: Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Clarifications to AASB 15 (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 
January 2018). 

AASB 15 will provide (except in relation to some specific exceptions, such as lease contracts and insurance 
contracts) a single source of accounting requirements for all contracts with customers, thereby replacing all 
current accounting pronouncements on revenue. 
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NOTE 2: ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE (CONTINUED) 

These Standards provide a revised principle for recognising and measuring revenue. Under AASB 15, 
revenue is recognised in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in 
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the provider of the goods or services expects to be 
entitled. To give effect to this principle, AASB 15 requires the adoption of the following 5-step model: 

 identify the contract(s) with a customer; 

 identify the performance obligations under the contract(s); 

 determine the transaction price; 

 allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations under the contract(s); and 

 recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies the performance obligations. 

AASB 15 also provides additional guidance to assist entities in applying the revised principle to licences of 
intellectual property, warranties, rights of return, principal/agent considerations and options for additional 
goods and services. 

Although the directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 15 may have an impact on the group's reported 
revenue, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a reasonable estimate of such impact. 

AASB 16: Leases (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2019). 

AASB 16 will replace AASB 117: Leases and introduces a single lessee accounting model that will require a 
lessee to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, 
unless the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use assets are initially measured at their cost and lease 
liabilities are initially measured on a present value basis. Subsequent to initial recognition: 

 right-of-use assets are accounted for on a similar basis to non-financial assets, whereby the right-of-use 
asset is accounted for in accordance with a cost model unless the underlying asset is accounted for on 
a revaluation basis, in which case if the underlying asset is: 

 investment property, the lessee applies the fair value model in AASB 140: Investment Property to the 
right-of-use asset; or 

 property, plant or equipment, the lessee can elect to apply the revaluation model in AASB 116: 
Property, Plant and Equipment to all of the right-of-use assets that relate to that class of property, 
plant and equipment; and 

 lease liabilities are accounted for on a similar basis as other financial liabilities, whereby interest 
expense is recognised in respect of the liability and the carrying amount of the liability is reduced to 
reflect lease payments made. 

AASB 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in AASB 117. Accordingly, under 
AASB 16 a lessor would continue to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases subject to 
whether the lease transfers to the lessee substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of 
the underlying asset, and would account for each type of lease in a manner consistent with the current 
approach under AASB 117. Although the directors anticipate that the adoption of AASB 16 may have an 
impact on the group’s accounting for its operating leases, it is impracticable at this stage to provide a 
reasonable estimate of such impact. 
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NOTE 3: DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES 

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, 
for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for 
measurement and/or disclosure purposes based on the guidelines set out in AASB 13. When 
applicable, further information about the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed 
in the notes specific to that asset or liability. 
 
(i) Property, plant and equipment 

The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business 
combination is the estimated amount for which a property could be exchanged on the date of 
acquisition between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper 
marketing wherein the parties had each acted knowledgeably. The fair value of items of plant, 
equipment, fixtures and fittings is based on the market approach and cost approaches using quoted 
market prices for similar items when available and replacement cost when appropriate. Depreciated 
replacement cost estimates reflect adjustments for physical deterioration as well as functional and 
economic obsolescence. The early adoption of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement has resulted in the 
fair value being applied for property, plant and equipment acquired from business combinations, 
however this did not impact the financial statements. 
 
(ii) Intangible assets 
The fair value of gaming licenses acquired in a business combination is based on the comparative 
market value approach.   
 
The fair value of other intangible assets is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be 
derived from the use and eventual sale of the assets. 
 
(iii) Inventories 
The fair value of inventories acquired in a business combination is determined based on its 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and 
sale, and a reasonable profit margin based on the effort required to complete and sell the 
inventories. 
 
(iv) Trade and other receivables 
The fair value of trade and other receivables acquired in a business combination, is estimated as the 
present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the date of 
acquisition. 
 
(v) Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of 
future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting 
date. In respect of the liability component of convertible notes, the market rate of interest is 
determined by reference to similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option.   
 
For finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar lease 
agreements. 



VILLAGE NATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
ABN 158 332 284 

 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016 
 

 

41 
 

 

NOTE 4: ONGOING OPERATIONS 

During the year ended 31 December 2016 the Group incurred an operating loss before income tax and 
revaluation of assets of $1,149,472 (2015: $1,078,116) and has a net current liability position of $8,530,091 
(2015: $8,354,653) primarily due to the bank bill facility of $7,769,222 (2014: $7,768,070) being classified as 
a current liability. At 31 December 2016 the Group’s current liabilities, excluding current borrowings, 
exceeded current assets by $419,764 (2015: $175,721).  
 
The Group’s ongoing operations, and its ability to meet its repayment obligations with existing creditors and 
lenders, is dependent on a number of factors including the ongoing support of its bank, its ability to reduce 
operating costs to a sustainable level, raise additional equity, achieve budgeted operating results and/or sell 
non-core assets to generate positive cash flows required to meet its debts as they fall due. 
 
The Directors believe the required financial results will be achieved in 2017 on the basis that the group has 
undertaken an operating cost reduction program and identified significant reductions in across several areas 
in the business that will reduce the group's operating cash outflows.  
 
Additionally, management have identified several opportunities for the Group to tender for contracts to 
provide accommodation services to various companies servicing the local mining industry. Management 
believe the Group is well placed in to win these contracts and if successful, the group's operating results will 
be positively impacted. 
 
Discussions remain ongoing with the Group’s bank regarding a restructuring of principal repayment 
obligations as well as financial covenants which may reasonably be expected to be achieved by the Group. 
Discussions to date have not given rise to any indication of an intention of the bank to withdraw their 
support to the Group.  
 
The Directors are of the opinion that the Group is a going concern and will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they become due and payable provided lenders and creditors continue to provide their support. 
 
The parent entity’s ongoing operations are also dependent on the factors noted above, and its controlled 
entities providing sufficient funds to allow the parent entity to meet its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the parent entity 
and Group will realise their assets and extinguish their liabilities in the normal course of business. Ongoing 
operations are dependent upon the matters described above. Should these not occur, there is significant 
uncertainty whether the parent entity and Group will be able to continue as a going concern and whether 
they will realise their assets and settle their liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business at 
the amounts stated in the financial report. No adjustments have been made to the financial report relating 
to the recoverability and classification of the asset carrying amounts or the amounts and classification of 
liabilities that might be necessary should the parent entity and Group not continue as a going concern. 
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NOTE 5: REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 

Accommodation and dining services   4,274,954   5,265,266  

Interest income   -   227  

Profit on sale of assets   99,000   2,801  

Other Income   24,628   -  

   4,398,582   5,268,294  
 

NOTE 6: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 

   

   

   

Wages and salaries   1,666,237   1,626,641  

Superannuation contributions   137,672   138,564  

   1,803,909   1,765,205  
 

NOTE 7: FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS 

Interest income   24,628   227  

Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost   463,241   405,888  

   487,869   406,115  
 

NOTE 8: INCOME TAX 
 

(a) Components of tax expense 

Current tax   -   -  

Deferred tax   -   (320,337)  

Under (over) provision for income tax in prior years   (345,602)   483,628  

   (345,602)   163,291  
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(b) Prima facie tax payable 

 

The prima facie tax payable on profit before income tax is reconciled to the 
income tax expense as 
follows:
     

Prima facie income tax expense (benefit) on profit before income tax at 
30.0% (2015: 
30.0%)
   135,158   (953,435)   

Add tax effect of:     

Non-deductible expenses   540   3,098   

Prior period adjustment to deferred tax   -   483,628   

Impairment write-down of assets   -   630,000   

Deferred tax asset not recognised   344,302   -   

 
 344,842  
 

 1,116,726  
  

Less tax effect of:     

Over provision for income tax in prior years   345,602   -   

Impairment reversal of assets   480,000   -   

 
 825,602  
 

 -  
  

Income tax expense / (benefit) attributable to profit   (345,602)   163,291   
 

(c) Current tax 

Current tax relates to the following:     

Current tax liabilities / (assets)     

Opening balance   -   45,655   

Tax payments   -   (45,655)   

Current tax liabilities / (assets)   -   -   
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(d) Deferred tax 

Deferred tax relates to the following:     

Deferred tax assets    

The balance comprises:    

Employee benefits   78,036   49,769  

Provision for doubtful debts   2,816   -  

Provision for impairment - Land and buildings   1,714,066   1,658,987  

Accrued expenses   43,151   55,103  

Equity raising costs   -   93,903  

Other   15,585   11,139  

   1,853,654   1,868,901  

 

Deferred tax liabilities    

The balance comprises:    

Borrowing costs   5,028   5,115  

Prepayments   8,347   23,507  

   13,375   28,622  

Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities)   1,840,279   1,840,279   
 

(e) Deferred tax assets not brought to account 

Temporary differences   3,165,889   3,700,967  

Tax losses   3,266,993   2,864,483  

   6,432,882   6,565,450  
 

NOTE 9: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash on hand   1,651   999  

Cash at bank   96,268   82,852  

   97,919   83,851  

The Group's exposure to interest rate risk and a sensitivity analysis for financial assets and liabilities is 
disclosed in Note 23. 
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NOTE 10: RECEIVABLES 

CURRENT    

Trade and other receivables   401,468   336,592  

Impairment loss   (9,387)   -  

  
 

 392,081  
 

 336,592  
 

   392,081   336,592  
 
 

Impairment of trade receivables 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing with 30 day terms. An impairment loss is recognised when there 
is objective evidence that an individual trade receivable is impaired. The impairment losses have been 
included within administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. All trade 
receivables that are not impaired are expected to be received within trading terms. 

 
 
 

Aging analysis and impaired trade receivables 

As at 31 December 2016 $9,388 of trade receivables of the group were impaired (2015: 
Nil).  
   
 

 

Gross 
2016 

$ 

Impairment 
2016 

$ 

Gross 
2015 

$ 

Impairment 
2015 

$ 

Not past due   90,273   -   153,060   -  

Past due 31-60 days   184,016   -   166,860   -  

Past due 61-90 days   7,177   -   8,800   -  

Past due more than 91 days   120,003   (9,388)   7,872   -  

   401,469   (9,388)   336,592   -  
 

NOTE 11: INVENTORIES 

CURRENT     

At cost     

Stock on hand   44,059   23,385   
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NOTE 12: OTHER ASSETS 

CURRENT    

Prepayments   52,957   101,886  

Accrued income   26,385   15,251  

   79,342   117,137  

NON CURRENT    

Other non-current assets   37,700   37,700  
 

NOTE 13: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Land and buildings    

At cost   44,191,455   43,962,113  

Accumulated depreciation and impairment   (18,307,919)   (19,550,492)  

   25,883,536   24,411,621  

Plant and equipment    

Motor vehicles at cost   54,234   39,734  

Accumulated depreciation   (32,543)   (24,537)  

   21,691   15,197  

Office equipment at cost   140,134   131,949  

Accumulated depreciation   (131,757)   (98,841)  

   8,377   33,108  

Furniture, fixtures and fittings at cost   2,975,504   2,918,940  

Accumulated depreciation   (1,708,799)   (1,357,206)  

   1,266,705   1,561,734  

Total plant and equipment   1,296,773   1,610,039  

Total property, plant and equipment   27,180,309   26,021,660  
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(a) Reconciliations 

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at 
the beginning and end of the current financial 
year
    

Land and buildings    

Opening carrying amount   24,411,621   25,104,644  

Additions   1,244,342   133,644  

Disposals   (916,000)   -  

Depreciation expense   (456,427)   (564,654)  

Impairment reversal (charge)   1,600,000   (2,100,000)  

Reclassified   -   2,077,987  

Reimbursement of construction costs capitalised in prior period   -   (240,000)  

Closing carrying amount   25,883,536   24,411,621  

Motor vehicles    

Opening carrying amount   15,197   35,727  

Additions   14,500   1,636  

Disposals   -   (10,835)  

Depreciation expense   (8,006)   (11,331)  

Closing carrying amount   21,691   15,197  

Office equipment    

Opening carrying amount   33,108   60,124  

Additions   8,184   5,903  

Depreciation expense   (32,915)   (32,919)  

Closing carrying amount   8,377   33,108  

Furniture, fixtures and fittings    

Opening carrying amount   1,561,734   1,904,509  

Additions   56,564   4,490  

Depreciation expense   (351,593)   (347,265)  

Closing carrying amount   1,266,705   1,561,734  

(b) Property, plant and equipment pledged as security 

All property, plant and equipment owned by the Group is pledged as security under the loan facility 
agreement dated 31 July 2014 with National Australia Bank.  
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(c) Impairment   

Impairment charges/reversals in relation to property plant and equipment are recorded in revaluation of 
assets line within the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.  Each individual property operated 
by the group is considered to be a separate cash generating unit (CGU). 
 
The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined using a value in use discounted cash flow 
valuation model by applying a capitalisation of future maintainable earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) approach for each CGU.  Accordingly, an impairment reversal of 
$1,600,000 (2015: $2,100,000 impairment loss) has been recognised during the year ended 31 December 
2016. At the CGU level Coal Country Village experienced an impairment reversal of $2,000,000 while the 
Emerald Tourist Park incurred a further impairment loss of $400,000.  The total provision for impairment on 
land and building assets held by the group at 31 December 2016 is $16,266,512 (2015: $17,866,512).  
 
The discounted cash flow valuation models applied discount rates ranging from 14% to 16% with the higher 
discount rate reflective of increased levels of uncertainty in cash flow estimates for the properties that are 
mostly dependent on the mining and resources sector. Long-term perpetuity growth rates used in the value 
in use models ranged from 2% to 3%.  
  

 2016 2015 

 $ $ 

NOTE 14: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Trademarks at cost   1,800   1,800  

Website development at cost   4,642   4,642  

Accumulated amortisation and impairment   (1,166)   (153)  

  
 

 3,476  
 

 4,489  
 

Total intangible assets   5,276   6,289  

 
 

(a) Reconciliations 

Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of intangible assets at the beginning 
and end of the current financial 
year
    

Trademarks at cost    

Opening balance   1,800   1,800  

Closing balance   1,800   1,800  
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Website development at cost    

Opening balance   4,489   -  

Additions   -   4,642  

Amortisation expense   (1,013)   (153)  

Closing balance   3,476   4,489  

Amortisation expense in relation to intangible assets is included within depreciation and amortisation 
expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
 

NOTE 15: PAYABLES 

CURRENT    

Unsecured liabilities    

Trade creditors   335,370   273,569  

Sundry creditors and accruals   495,878   269,659  

  
 

 831,248  
 

 543,228  
 

 

NOTE 16: BORROWINGS 

CURRENT    

Unsecured liabilities    

Insurance premium funding   39,777   50,112  

Notes payable   301,160   50,000  

Amounts payable to:    

Related parties   -   310,750  

  
 

 340,937  
 

 410,862  
 

Secured liabilities    

Bank loans   7,769,390   7,768,070  

   8,110,327   8,178,932  

NON CURRENT    

Unsecured liabilities    

Notes payable   -   250,000  

Amounts payable to:    

Related parties   417,974   -  

  417,974   250,000  
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(a) Terms and conditions and assets pledging as security relating to the above financial instruments 

The bank loan facility was subject to a variation of terms with the bank on 8 July 2016, the facility expires 31 
July 2017. 
 
The loan is secured by a registered first mortgage over each property owned within the Group as well as a 
general security agreement over the whole of the Group’s assets. Additionally, each company within the 
Group has provided cross-guarantees to the other companies within the Group.  
 
The bank loan facility is an interest only loan and the interest rate is variable. Interest is paid 90 days in 
advance. A facility fee of 2.75% of the facility limit is charged per annum. 
 
The primary covenants imposed under the bank loan facility require management to provide monthly 
updates to the bank in respect to business performance. There have been no breaches during the year 
ended 30 June 2016. 
 
Refer to Note 21 for information about the Groups exposure to interest rate risk.  

   
 

NOTE 17: PROVISIONS 

CURRENT     

Employee benefits    143,443   139,318  

Decommissioning    23,480   23,480  

    166,923   162,798  

NON CURRENT     

Employee benefits    18,094   -  
 

NOTE 18: OTHER LIABILITIES 

CURRENT    

Other liabilities   10,115   10,115  

Deposits held   24,879   20,545  

   34,994   30,660  
 

NOTE 19: SHARE CAPITAL 

Issued and paid-up capital    48,043,181   48,043,181  
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 2016 2015 

 Number $ Number $ 

(a) Ordinary shares 

Consolidated  
     

Opening balance   281,864,631   48,043,181   271,519,945   47,215,606   

Shares issued:       

30 March 2015  -   -   5,000,000   400,000   

31 December 2015  -   -   5,344,686   427,575   

   -   -   10,344,686   827,575   

At reporting date   281,864,631   48,043,181   281,864,631   48,043,181   

Village National Holdings Limited       

Opening balance   281,864,631   48,043,181   271,519,945   47,215,606   

Shares issued:       

30 March 2015  -   -   5,000,000   400,000   

31 December 2015  -   -   5,344,686   427,575   

   -   -   10,344,686   827,575   

At reporting date   281,864,631   48,043,181   281,864,631   48,043,181   

 
Rights of each type of share 

Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in proportion 
to the number of shares held. 

At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise each 
shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 

Capital management   

When managing capital, management's objective is to ensure the group continues as a going concern as 
well as to maintain optimal returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. This is achieved 
through the monitoring of historical and forecast performance and cash flows. 

During 2016, management paid dividends of $- (2015: $-). 
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NOTE 20: ACCUMULATED LOSSES 

Accumulated losses at beginning of year   (28,741,906)   (26,928,168)  

Net profit (loss) for the year ended 31 December   796,130   (3,341,407)  

Transfers from reserves   -   1,527,669  

   (27,945,776)   (28,741,906)  
 

NOTE 21: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The group is exposed to a variety of financial risks comprising: 
 

(a) Credit risk 

(b) Liquidity risk 

(c) Interest rate risk 

The board of directors have overall responsibility for identifying and managing operational and financial 
risks. 
              
Risk Management framework 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk 
management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced 
by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  
These policies are informally reviewed from time to time to reflect changes in market conditions and the 
Group’s 
activities.            
   
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, liquidity risks and interest rate 
risk. The summaries below present information about the Group’s exposure to each of these risks, their 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, the management of capital and financial 
instruments.            
            
The group holds the following financial instruments: 
 
 

 2016 2015 

 $ $ 
Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents   97,919   83,851  

Trade and other receivables   392,081   336,592  

   490,000   420,637  

Financial liabilities  
  

Bank and other loans   8,110,327   8,118,182  

Trade and other payables   831,248   543,228  

Related party payables   417,974   310,750  

   9,359,549   8,972,354  
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(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by 
failing to discharge an obligation. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance date 
of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, net of any provisions for impairment of 
those assets, as disclosed in consolidated statement of financial position and notes to financial statements. 

The group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under 
financial instruments entered into by the group. 

The group minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to trade receivables by undertaking 
transactions with a large number of customers. 

(i) Cash deposits 

Credit risk for cash deposits is managed by holding all cash deposits with major Australian banks. 

(ii) Trade and other receivables 

Credit risk for trade receivables is managed by setting credit limits and completing credit checks for new 
customers. Outstanding receivables are regularly monitored for payment in accordance with credit terms. 

The aging and impairment analysis of trade and other receivables is provided in Note 10. As the group 
undertakes transactions with a large number of customers and regularly monitors payment in accordance 
with credit terms, the financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired, are expected to be received in 
accordance with the credit risk. 

 
(b) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  The 
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. 
 
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity management rests with the Board of Directors. The Group manages 
liquidity risk by maintaining adequate funding and monitoring of future rolling cash flow forecasts of its  
operations, which reflect management’s expectations of expected settlement of financial assets and 
liabilities. 

Refer to note 16 for details of current facilities as well as defaults and breaches.  
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Maturity analysis 

The table below represents the undiscounted contractual settlement terms for financial instruments and 
managements expectation for settlement of undiscounted maturities. 

Year ended 31 December 2016  < 6 months 6-12 months 1-5 years 
Carrying 
amount 

 $ $ $ $ 

Trade and other payables   831,248   -   -   831,248  

Bank and other loans   90,937   8,019,390   -   8,110,327  

Related party loans   -   -   417,974   417,974  

Net maturities   922,185   8,019,390   417,974   9,359,549  

Year ended 31 December 2015      

Trade and other payables   543,228   -   -   543,228  

Bank and other loans   287,584   312,528   7,518,070   8,118,182  

Related party loans   10,750   50,000   250,000   310,750  

Net maturities   841,562   362,528   7,768,070   8,972,160  
 

(c) Interest rate risk 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income is affected by changes in interest rates due to the impact of such 
changes on interest income and expenses from cash and cash equivalents and borrowings. 
              
At balance date, the Group had the following financial assets and liabilities exposed to variable interest rate 
risk:              
                           
                2016                   2015 
         $  $ 
Cash and cash equivalents                        97,919                83,851    
Bank and other loans      (7,795,000)       (7,795,000) 
Trade and other payables            (42,650)                  -   
        (7,739,731)       (7,711,149) 

No other financial assets or financial liabilities are expected to be exposed to interest rate risk. 
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Sensitivity 

If interest rates were to increase/decrease by 50 basis points from rates used to determine fair values as at 
the reporting date, assuming all other variables that might impact on fair value remain constant, then the 
impact on profit for the year and equity is as follows: 
 

 

  2016 2015 

+ / - 50 basis points:  $ $ 

Impact on profit before income tax           38,698            38,556  

 
 
(d) Capital management 
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Capital consists of ordinary shares, retained 
earnings and controlling interests of the Group. The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital as 
well as the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.  
              
The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels 
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position. The Board ensures 
costs are not incurred in excess of available funds.   
              
The Group is exposed to the following externally imposed capital requirements: 

 Dividend payments cannot be made without prior written consent from the bank; 

 No change in control of the Group without the prior written consent of the bank. 
              
(e) Net fair values of financial assets and liabilities 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities of the Group, for the period ended 31 December 
approximate their net fair values, given the short time frames to maturity and or variable interest rates. 
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NOTE 22: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION 

Compensation received by key management personnel of the group    

- short-term employee benefits   307,324   219,333  

- post-employment benefits   29,196   20,837  

   336,520   240,170  
 
 

The names of directors who have held office during the full year unless stated otherwise are: 

Name    
     

David J Franklyn    
     

Noel J Griffin    
     

Graeme M Yukich    
     

Richard J Nelson    
     

    
     

    
     

 

NOTE 23: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  

No contingent liabilities exist at 31 December 2016 (2015: $Nil).  
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NOTE 24: CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 

(a) Reconciliation of cash 

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the consolidated 
statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
consolidated statement of financial position is as 
follows:
    

Cash on hand   1,651   999  

Cash at bank   96,268   82,852  

   97,919   83,851  
 

(b) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with profit after income tax 

Loss from ordinary activities after income tax   796,130   (3,341,407)  

Adjustments and non-cash items  
  

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment   (99,000)   -  

Depreciation and amortisation   849,954   956,322  

Fair value adjustments and impairment   (1,600,000)   2,100,000  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities    

(Increase) / decrease in receivables   (55,489)   199,769  

(Increase) / decrease in other assets   37,795   61,978  

(Increase) / decrease in inventories   (20,674)   28,111  

Increase / (decrease) in related party payables   42,224   -  

Increase / (decrease) in payables   288,020   (572,658)  

Increase / (decrease) in other liabilities   4,334   15,664  

Increase / (decrease) in current tax liability   -   (45,655)  

(Increase) / decrease in deferred taxes   -   163,291  

Increase / (decrease) in provisions   22,219   67,831  

Cash flows from operating activities   265,513   (366,754)  
 

(c) Non-cash financing and investing activities  

There were no non-cash financing or investing activities during 2016.   
 
During the 2015 year the $400,000 related party loan payable to Esplanade Property Fund, a related entity 
of David Franklyn and Graeme Yukich was converted to share capital. The debt for equity swap transaction 
had no cash impact on the Group during the prior year. 
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NOTE 25: CAPITAL AND LEASING COMMITMENTS 

(a) Operating lease commitments 

2016 
$ 

2015 
$ 

Non-cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the 
financial 
statements:
  

  

Payable    

- not later than one year   188,803   387,403  

- later than one year and not later than five years   55,161   1,000,792  

- later than five years   -   -  

   243,964   1,388,195  

The majority of the operating lease commitments are in respect to equipment leased at the Coal Country 
Caravan Park property. 

(b) Capital expenditure commitments contracted for:   

No capital expenditure commitments were contracted at 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil). 
 

NOTE 26: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

(a) Transactions with key management personnel and their related entities 
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group entered into a loan facility agreement with G&F 
Yukich Superannuation Pty Ltd, an entity associated with Graeme Yukich to borrow funds of $50,000.   The 
loan is unsecured and a fixed interest rate of 10% per annum is charged on the outstanding principal, 
compounding and capitalised daily. The loan was due for repayment at the earlier of 12 months from the 
date of first advance or where a change of control event occurs. This loan has yet to be repaid by the group 
and incurred $8,713 in interest charges during the 2016 year. Subsequent to the reporting date the lender 
has issued a confirmation of forbearance which waives the right to call for repayment of the outstanding 
loan until 7 June 2018. The loan has therefore been classified as a non-current payable. 
 
On 27 July 2016 an additional loan facility agreement with G&F Yukich Superannuation Pty Ltd was executed 
for the group to borrow a further $50,000. These funds are unsecured and non-interest bearing, however 
are subject to a redemption clause that requires 140% of the principal borrowed to be repaid at the 
maturity date. The maturity date is the date 12 months from the date of the loan agreement. The parties 
may agree in writing to extend the maturity date by such a period as agreed between them. At the maturity 
date there is an option for the loan to be converted to ordinary shares which requires shares to be issued to 
the outstanding balance of the redemption amount at a price of $0.01 per share.  If a conversion event 
occurs the group is required to offer each other existing shareholder in the group a rights offer to subscribe 
for additional shares up to the number of shares held by that shareholder at the maturity date at the price 
of $0.01 per share. Subsequent to the reporting date the lender has issued a confirmation of forbearance 
which waives the right to call for repayment of the outstanding loan until 7 June 2018. The loan has 
therefore been classified as a non-current payable. 
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NOTE 26: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
On 29 July 2016 G&F Yukich Superannuation Pty Ltd and Union Street Super Fund, and entity associated 
with David Franklyn, purchased accommodation buildings located at Moranbah from the group for 
$150,000 and $50,000 plus GST respectively.  A rental agreement was then executed to rent the cabins back 
to the group at an agreed rental rate equivalent to a 20% per annum return on the asset purchase price. 
 
On 7 November 2016 the group bought back the accommodation buildings from G&F Yukich 
Superannuation Fund Pty Ltd for $150,000 plus GST. 
 
At 31 December 2016 $132,697 (2015: $50,000) and $4,478 (2015: nil) is payable to G&F Yukich 
Superannuation Fund and Union Street Super Fund respectively. Both liabilities have been classified as 
non-current payables. 
 
During the year ended 31 December 2016 the group incurred interest expense of $30,800 to Wellington 
Capital Limited, an entity associated with former Directors Jennifer Hutson and Mary-Anne Greaves.  At 31 
December 2016, $280,800 (2015: 260,750) is payable to Wellington Capital Limited. Subsequent to the 
reporting date a letter of forbearance was received from the lender which waives their right to call for 
repayment of the outstanding loan until 1 July 2018. The loan has therefore been classified as a non-current 
payable. 
 

(b) Loans from key management personnel and their related entities 
Details regarding loans outstanding at the reporting date to key management personnel and their related 
parties at any time in the reporting period, are as follows: 

  2016 2015 

  $ $ 

Wellington Capital Limited    280,800   260,750  

Entities related to D Franklyn    4,478   -  

Entities related to G Yukich    132,697   50,000  

    417,975   310,750  

 

(c) Equity transactions with key management personnel 
The following table details equity transactions of Key Management Personnel: 
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NOTE 26: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 

  

Name  Position Shares held 
at 31 

December 
2015 

Shares 
disposed 

during the 
year 

Shares 
acquired 

during the 
year 

Shares 
acquired 

under debt 
/equity 

swap 

Other Shares held 
31 December 

2016 

D Franklyn (b) Director 3,102,757 - 114,983 - (641,672) (c) 2,576,068 

N Griffin (a) Director 2,637,500 - - - - 2,637,500 

G Yukich (b) Director 8,156,280 - - - - 8,156,280 

R Nelson (a) Director 3,290,000 - - - - 3,290,000 

        

(a) includes shares held by 
Associates          
 (b) includes share held by Associates and shares held in capacity as a Director of an 
Associate 
(c) no longer have a related party interest in these shares 

 
NOTE 27: EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE 

There has been no matter or circumstance, which has arisen since 31 December 2016 that has significantly 
affected or may significantly affect: 

(a) the operations, in financial years subsequent to 31 December 2016, of the group, or 
(b) the results of those operations, or 
(c) the state of affairs, in financial years subsequent to 31 December 2016, of the group. 
 

NOTE 28: DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE 

Pursuant to ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/785 dated 29 September 2016, the wholly owned subsidiaries 
listed below are relieved from the Corporations Act 2001 requirements for preparation, audit and 
lodgement of financial reports, and directors’ report. 
 
It is a condition of the Legislative Instrument that the Company and each of the subsidiaries enter into a 
Deed of Cross Guarantee. The effect of the Deed is that the Company guarantees to each creditor payment 
in full of any debt in the event of winding up of any of the subsidiaries under certain provisions of the 
Corporations Act 2001. If a winding up occurs under other provisions of the Act, the Company will only be 
liable in the event that after six months any creditor has not been paid in full. The subsidiaries have also 
given similar guarantees in the event that the Company is wound up. 
 
The subsidiaries subject to the Deed are: 
 
Village National Pty Ltd 
Village National Properties Pty Ltd 
Village National Operations Pty Ltd 
Village National Emerald Properties Pty Ltd 
Village National Emerald Operations Pty Ltd 

Village National Coal Country Properties Pty Ltd 
Village National Coal Country Operations Pty Ltd 
Village National Pritchard Properties Pty Ltd 
Village National Pritchard Operations Pty Ltd 
Village National Facilities Management 
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NOTE 29: AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION 
 
 

Audit services 
  

Auditors of the Group - Pitcher Partners   60,000   60,000  

Non-audit services 
  

Taxation services - Pitcher Partners   78,000   -  
 

NOTE 30: PARENT ENTITY DETAILS 

Summarised presentation of the parent entity, Village National Holdings Limited, financial statements: 

(a) Summarised consolidated statement of financial position 
  

Assets  
  

Current assets   82,407   37,123  

Non-current assets   89,273,253   89,523,636  

Total assets   89,355,660   89,560,759  

Liabilities    

Current liabilities   8,220,759   8,163,948  

Non-current liabilities   405,774   250,000  

Total liabilities   8,626,533   8,413,948  

Net assets   80,729,127   81,146,811  

Equity    

Share capital   82,122,030   82,122,030  

Retained earnings   (1,392,903)   (975,219)  

Total equity   80,729,127   81,146,811  

(b) Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income   

Loss for the year   (417,684)   (722,265)  

Other comprehensive income for the year   -   -  

Total comprehensive income for the year   (417,684)   (722,265)  
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NOTE 31: INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 

(a) Subsidiaries 

The following are the group's significant subsidiaries: 
 

 

Subsidiaries of Village National Holdings Limited:  Country of incorporation Ownership interest 
held by the group 

  

2016 
% 

 

2015 
% 

 

Village National Pty Ltd  Australia  100 100 

Village National Properties Pty Ltd  Australia  100 100 

Village National Operations Pty Ltd  Australia  100 100 

Village National Emerald Properties Pty Ltd  Australia  100 100 

Village National Emerald Operations Pty Ltd  Australia  100 100 

Village National Coal Country Properties Pty Ltd  Australia  100 100 

Village National Coal Country Operations Pty Ltd  Australia  100 100 

Village National Pritchard Properties Pty Ltd  Australia  100 100 

Village National Pritchard Operations Pty Ltd  Australia  100 100 

Village National Facilties Management Pty Ltd *  Australia  100 - 

* new subsidiary incorporated in 2016. 
 

NOTE 32: SEGMENT INFORMATION 

Management provide oversight of the business by reviewing and reporting financial results on a 
consolidated basis to the board of Directors. 
 
The Group operates master-planned properties providing various accommodation solutions to Australia's 
mining regions. Management does not report to the board on an individual product or geographical basis. 
The Group is also not reliant on one single customer. 
 
Given the conditions stated above, management has determined that there are no separately 
reportable operating segments. The Group operates as one reportable segment and the segment results are 
the same as those reported in the consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 33: EARNINGS PER SHARE 

   2016 2015 
 $ $ 
   
Profit (loss) for the year attributable to equity holders of the Group 796,298 (3,341,407) 
Profit (loss) for the period attributable to equity holders of the 
Group
 
 - from continuing 
operations
 
  

 
 796,92

8 

 
 (3,341,

407) 

        
 Number Number 
Weighted average number of shares at the end of the period 281,864,631 275,311,154 
   
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 0.28 (1.21) 
   
Basic and diluted loss per share from continuing operations (cents) 0.28 (1.21) 

 
 

NOTE 34: ENTITY DETAILS 

The registered office of the group is: 

Village National Holdings Limited 

Level 1 

214 Bay Street 

BRIGHTON  VIC  3186 
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The directors of the company declare that: 

1.  The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 15 - 63, are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001: and 

(a) comply with Accounting Standards in Australia and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) as stated in Note 1(a) , the consolidated financial statements also comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards; and 

(c)  give a true and fair view of the financial position of the consolidated entity as at 31 December 
2016 and its performance for the year ended on that date. 

2.  In the directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay 
its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

3. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company and the group entities identified in note 28 
will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are or may become subject to by virtue 
of the Deed of Cross Guarantee between the Company and those group entities pursuant to ASIC 
Legislative Instrument 2016/785. 

 

 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the 
Members of Village National Holdings Limited 

 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Report 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the financial report of Village National Holdings Limited “the Company” and its controlled entities “the 
Group”, which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 
 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 31 December 2016 and of its financial 
performance for the year then ended; and  

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.  
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and 
the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants “the Code” that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  
 
We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been given to the 
directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
  
We draw attention to Note 4 in the financial report, which indicates that during the year ended 31 December 2016 the 
Group incurred an operating loss before income tax and revaluation of assets of $1,149,472 (2015: $1,078,116) and 
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has a net current liability position of $8,530,091 (2015: $8,354,653) primarily due to the bank bill facility of $7,769,222 
(2014: $7,768,070) being classified as a current liability. At 31 December 2016 the Group’s current liabilities, excluding 
current borrowings, exceeded current assets by $419,764 (2015: $175,721). The Group’s ongoing operations, and its 
ability to meet its repayment obligations with existing creditors and lenders, is dependent on a number of factors 
including the ongoing support of the bank, its ability to reduce operating costs to a sustainable level, raise additional 
equity, achieve budgeted operating results and/or sell non-core assets to generate positive cash flows required to 
meet its debts as they fall due.  As stated in Note 4, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in 
Note 4, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  
 
Other Information  
 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2016, but does not include the financial report and our 
auditor’s report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  
 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  
 
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  
 
As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
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fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.  

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to 
cease to continue as a going concern.  

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.  

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial report. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.  

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 
 
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.  
 
Report on the Remuneration Report 
Opinion on the Remuneration Report  
 
We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 9 to 13 of the directors’ report for the year ended 31 
December 2016. In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Village National Holdings Limited, for the year ended 31 
December 2016, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
 
Responsibilities  
 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report in 
accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

 
 
 

PITCHER PARTNERS 
 
 
 

NIGEL BATTERS 
Partner 
 
Brisbane, Queensland 
9 June 2017
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  

Village National Holdings Limited (the Company) and the Board are committed to achieving and 

demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance.  The Board continues to review the 

framework and practices to ensure they meet the interests of shareholders.  The Company and its 

controlled entities together are referred to as the Group in this statement. 

A description of the Group’s main corporate governance practices is set out below.   

 

Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for management and oversight 

The relationship between the Board and senior management is critical to the Group’s long-term success.  

The directors are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Group in both the short and 

the longer term and seek to balance sometimes competing objectives in the best interests of the Group 

as a whole.  Their focus is to enhance the interests of shareholders and other key stakeholders and to 

ensure the Group is properly managed. 

The responsibilities of the Board include: 

 providing strategic guidance to the Group including contributing to the development of and 

approving the corporate strategy; 

 reviewing and approving business plans, the annual budget and financial plans including 

available resources and major capital expenditure initiatives; 

 overseeing and monitoring: 

 organisational performance and the achievement of the Group’s strategic goals and objectives; 

 compliance with the company’s Code of Conduct; and 

 progress of major capital expenditures and other significant corporate projects including any 

acquisitions or divestments; 

 monitoring financial performance including approval of the annual and half year financial reports 

and liaison with the Group’s auditors; 

 appointment, performance assessment and, if necessary, removal of key executives; 

 ratifying the appointment and/or removal and contributing to the performance assessment for 

the members of the senior management team including the CFO and the Company Secretary; 

 ensuring there are effective management processes in place and approving major corporate 

initiatives; 

 enhancing and protecting the reputation of the organisation; 

 overseeing the operation of the Group’s system for compliance and risk management reporting 

to shareholders; and 

 ensuring appropriate resources are available to senior management. 

The terms and conditions of the appointment and retirement of directors are set out in a letter of 

appointment. 

Day-to-day management of the Group’s affairs and the implementation of the corporate strategy and 

policy initiatives are formally delegated by the Board to the Managing Director and senior executives.  

These delegations are reviewed on an annual basis. 
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The Group has developed a process for annual appraisal of senior executives measuring performance in 

ten areas, including contribution to the overall success of the business.  The appraisal is designed to 

measure success in achieving objectives set for the past twelve months and to set objectives for the 

ensuing twelve months.  Succession planning is also built into the appraisal process to encourage 

development of future leaders within the Group. 

Principle 2: Structure the board to add value 

The Board operates in accordance with the broad principles set out below: 

Board composition 

The charter states: 

(a) the Board is to be comprised of both executive and non-executive directors.  Non-executive 

directors bring perspective to the Board’s consideration of strategic, risk and performance 

matters and are best placed to exercise independent judgement and review and constructively 

challenge the performance of management; 

(b) in recognition of the importance of independent views and the Board’s role in supervising the 

activities of management, the Chairperson must be an independent non-executive Director, half 

of the Board must be independent of management and all Directors are required to bring 

independent judgement to bear in their Board decision making;  

(c) the Chairperson is elected by the full Board and is required to meet regularly with key executives; 

(d) the board is to establish measurable board gender diversity objectives and assess annually the 

objectives and progress in achieving them; 

(e) the Group is to maintain a mix of Directors on the Board from different backgrounds with 

complementary skills and experience; and, 

(f) the Board is required to undertake an annual Board performance review and consider the 

appropriate mix of skills required by the Board to maximise its effectiveness and its contribution 

to the Group.   

The board seeks to ensure that: 

(a) at any point in time, its membership represents an appropriate balance between directors with 

experience and knowledge of the group and directors with an external or fresh perspective; and 

(b) the size of the board is conducive to effective discussion and efficient decision-making. 

Board members 

Details of the members of the Board, their experience, expertise, qualifications, term of office and 

independent status are set out in the directors’ report under the heading “Directors''.  

Directors’ Independence 

The Board has adopted specific principles in relation to directors’ independence.  These state that to be 

independent, a director must be a non-executive and: 

(a) not be a substantial shareholder of the Group or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, 

a substantial shareholder of the Group; 
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(b) within the last three years, not have been employed in an executive capacity by the Company or any 

other Group member, or been a director after ceasing to hold any such employment; 

(c) within the last three years not have been a principal of a material professional adviser or a material 

consultant to the Company or any other Group member, or an employee materially associated with 

the service provided; 

(d) not be a material supplier or customer of the Company or any other Group member, or an officer of 

or otherwise associated directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer; 

(e) must have no material contractual relationship with the Company or a controlled entity other than as 

a director of the Group; and 

(f) be free from any interest and any business or other relationship which could, or could reasonably be 

perceived to, materially interfere with the directors’ ability to act in the best interests of the 

Company. 

Materiality for these purposes is determined on both a quantitative and qualitative bases. An amount of 

over 5% of annual turnover of the Company or Group or 5% of the individual directors’ net worth is 

considered material for these purposes.   

In addition, a transaction of any amount or a relationship is deemed material if knowledge of it may 

impact the shareholders’ understanding of the director’s performance. 

Recent thinking on corporate governance has introduced the view that a directors’ independence may 

be perceived to be impacted by lengthy service on the Board.  To avoid any potential concerns, the 

Board has determined that a director will not be deemed independent if he or she has served on the 

Board of the Company for more than ten years.   

Term of Office 

The Company’s Constitution specifies that all Directors, other than a managing director, must retire from 

office no later than the third annual general meeting following their last election.  Where eligible, a 

director may stand for re-election. 

Commitment 

The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board committee held each 

year, and the number of meetings attended by each Director is disclosed in the Company’s Annual 

Report. 

It is the Company’s practice to allow Executive Directors to accept appointments outside the Company 

with approval of the Board.    The commitments of non-executive directors are considered by the Board 

prior to the directors’ appointment to the Board of the Company and are to be reviewed each year as 

part of the annual performance assessment. 

Prior to appointment or being submitted for re-election, each non-executive director is required to 

specifically acknowledge that they have and will continue to have the time available to discharge their 

responsibilities to the Company. 

Conflict of interests 

Directors are required to avoid conflicts of interest and immediately inform the Board should a conflict of 

interest arise. Directors are also required to advise of any relevant interest that may result in a conflict. 

The Board has adopted use of formal standing notices in which directors disclose any material personal 

interests and the relationship of these interests to the affairs of the Company. A Director is required to 

notify the Company of any material personal interest or if there is any change in the nature or extent of a 

previously disclosed interest. 
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Independent professional advice 

Directors and Board committees have the right, in connection with their duties and responsibilities, to 

seek independent professional advice at the company’s expense.  Prior written approval of the 

Chairperson is required, but this will not be unreasonably withheld. 

Nominations and Remuneration 

Due to the small size of the Board, nomination and remuneration matters are addressed by the Board.  

A set of guidelines has been established in this regard.   

Board Performance Assessment 

The Board has developed an annual self-assessment process for its collective performance, the 

performance of the Chairperson and its committees.  A questionnaire is to be completed by each 

director, evaluating his or her individual performance, that of other Board members and of the Board as 

a whole.  The results and any action plans are to be documented together with specific performance 

goals which are to be agreed for the coming year. 

The Board intends to undertake its first annual assessment in the coming year. 

 

Principle 3:  Promote ethical and responsible decision making 

Code of Conduct 

The Company has developed a Code of Conduct (the Code) which has been fully endorsed by the Board 

and applies to all directors and employees.    The Code is regularly reviewed and updated as necessary 

to ensure it reflects the highest standards of behaviour and professionalism and the practices necessary 

to maintain confidence in the Group’s integrity. 

In summary, the Code requires that at all times all Company personnel act with the utmost integrity, 

objectivity and in compliance with the letter and the spirit of the law and Company policies. 

Trading in Company Securities 

The purchase and sale of Company securities by directors and employees is only permitted during the 

four-week period following the annual general meeting, release of the half yearly and annual financial 

results to the market, except with written authority in accordance with the Company’s Securities Trading 

Policy.  Any transactions undertaken must be notified to the Chairperson in advance.   

The directors are satisfied that the Group has complied with its policies on ethical standards, including 

trading in securities. 

Diversity policy 

The Company values diversity and recognises the benefits it can bring to the organisation’s ability to 

achieve its goals.  Accordingly, the Company has developed a diversity policy. This policy outlines the 

Company’s diversity objectives in relation to gender, age, cultural background and ethnicity.  It includes 

requirements for the board to establish measurable objectives for achieving diversity, and for the board 

to assess annually both the objectives, and the Company’s progress in achieving them. 
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Principle 4:  Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee for the period ended 31 December 2016 was not yet established.  The Board 

intends to establish an Audit Committee during the year ending 31 December 2017.  The Audit 

Committee responsibilities and policy will be established in accordance with the policy below. 

When in place, the audit committee will consist of two non-executive Directors, as disclosed in the 

Annual Report.  

Details of these Directors’ qualifications and attendance at audit committee meetings will be set out in 

the directors’ report in the Annual Report. 

All members of the audit committee will be financially literate and have an appropriate understanding of 

the industries in which the group operates. 

The audit committee will operate in accordance with a charter.  The main responsibilities of the 

committee are to: 

(a) review, assess and approve the annual full and concise reports, the half year financial report 

and all other financial information published by the company or released to the market; 

(b) assist the board in reviewing the effectiveness of the organisation’s internal control environment 

covering: 

(c) effectiveness and efficiency of operations; 

(d) reliability of financial reporting; 

(e) compliance with applicable laws and regulations; 

(f) oversee the effective operation of the risk management framework; 

(g) recommend to the board the appointment, removal and remuneration of the external auditors, 

and review the terms of their engagement, the scope and quality of the audit and assess 

performance; 

(h) consider the independence and competence of the external auditor on an ongoing basis; 

(i) review and approve the level of non-audit services provided by the external auditors and ensure 

it does not adversely impact on auditor independence; 

(j) review and monitor related party transactions and assess their propriety; and 

(k) report to the board on matters relevant to the committee’s role and responsibilities. 
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In fulfilling its responsibilities, the audit committee will: 

(a) receive regular reports from management and the external auditors; 

(b) meet with external auditors at least twice a year, or more frequently if necessary; 

(c) review the processes the MD and CFO have in place to support their certifications to the 

board; and 

(d) review any significant disagreements between the auditors and management, 

irrespective of whether they have been resolved. 

The audit committee will have authority, within the scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information 

it requires from any employee or external party. 

External Auditors 

The Company policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and independence.  

The performance of the external auditor is reviewed annually and applications for tender of external 

audit services are requested as deemed appropriate, taking into consideration assessment of 

performance, existing value and tender costs.  Pitcher Partners was appointed as the external auditor in 

2012.   

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including a break-down of fees for non-audit services, is 

provided in the directors’ report and in the notes to the financial statements contained in the Annual 

Report.  The external auditors provide an annual declaration of their independence to the audit 

committee in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. 

The external auditor attends the annual general meeting to be available to answer shareholder 

questions about the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report. 

 

Principle 5 and 6: Make timely and balanced disclosures and respect the rights of shareholders 

Continuous disclosure and shareholder communication 

The Company has policies and procedures on information disclosure that focus on continuous 

disclosure of any information concerning the Group that a reasonable person would expect to have a 

material effect on the price of the Company’s securities.  These policies and procedures also include the 

arrangements the Company has in place to promote communication with shareholders and encourage 

effective participation at general meetings.  

 

Principle 7:  Recognise and manage risk 

Risk assessment and management 

The Board is responsible for satisfying itself annually, or more frequently as required, that management 

has developed and implemented a sound system of risk management and internal control.  Detailed 

work on this task is delegated to the audit committee and reviewed by the full board. 

The audit committee is responsible for ensuring there are adequate policies in relation to risk 

management, compliance and internal control systems.  They monitor the Company’s risk management 

by overseeing management’s actions in the evaluation, management, monitoring and reporting of 

material operational, financial, compliance and strategic risks.  In providing this oversight, the 

committee: 
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(a) reviews the framework and methodology for risk identification, the degree of risk the 

Company is willing to accept, the management of risk and the processes for auditing and 

evaluation the Company’s risk management system; 

(e) reviews group wide objectives in the context of the abovementioned categories of 

corporate risk; 

(f) reviews and, where necessary, approves guidelines and policies governing the 

identification, assessment and management of the Company’s exposure to risk;  

(g) reviews and approves the delegations of financial authorities and addresses any need to 

update these authorities on an annual basis, and 

(h) review compliance with agreed policies. 

The committee recommends any actions it deems appropriate to the board for its consideration.   

Responsibility for Risk Management and Internal control is delegated to the appropriate level of 

management within the Group, with the MD and CFO having ultimate responsibility to the Board for the 

risk management and internal control framework. 

The Group has a Risk Management Policy to formally document the policies and procedures already in 

place to manage risk.   

Considerable importance is placed on maintaining a strong control environment.  There is an 

organisation structure with clearly drawn lines of accountability and delegation of authority.  Adherence 

to the Code of Conduct is required at all times and the Board actively promotes a culture of quality and 

integrity. 

Corporate Reporting 

In complying with recommendation 7.3 of the ASX Corporate Governance Recommendations, the 

Managing Director and CFO have made the following certifications to the Board: 

(a) the Company’s financial reports are complete and present a true and fair view, in all 

material respects, of the financial condition and operational results of the Company and 

Group and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards; 

(b) the above statement is founded on a system of risk management and internal 

compliance and control which implements the policies adopted by the Board; and 

(c) the Group’s risk management and internal compliance and control framework is 

operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects in relation to financial 

reporting risks. 

 



VILLAGE NATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
ABN 158 332 284 

 

75 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED 

 

Principle 8:  Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

Remuneration 

Due to the small size of the Board, nomination and remuneration matters are addressed by the Board.  

A set of guidelines has been established in this regard.   

Each member of the senior executive team signs a formal employment contract at the time of their 

appointment covering a range of matters including their duties, rights, responsibilities and any 

entitlements on termination.  The standard contract refers to a specific formal job description.  This job 

description is reviewed by the Board on an annual basis and, where necessary, is revised in consultation 

with the relevant employee. 

Further information on directors’ and executives’ remuneration, including principles used to determine 

remuneration, is set out in the directors’ report under the heading ''Remuneration Report'' in the 

Company’s Annual Report. 

Non-executive directors do not receive options or bonus payments and are not provided with retirement 

benefits other than superannuation. 

The Board also assumes responsibility for overseeing management succession planning, including the 

implementation of appropriate executive development programmes and ensuring adequate 

arrangements are in place, so that appropriate candidates are recruited for later promotion to senior 

positions.   
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